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1 Summary

Following the establishment of Camborne Mining School in the late 1880s, the eastern
section of South Condurrow Mine (1864-1896) was leased from the Pendarves Estate
and renamed King Edward Mine (KEM) in 1901. Three years later, after the mine was
equipped with new surface machinery, buildings and a new Mill, it was successfully
operating as a training facility (above and below ground) for students of Camborne
School of Mines, the main practical mine training school in the country.

King Edward Mine is now the oldest complete mine site left in Cornwall. The entire site
contains a number of buildings (see Figures 2-4), many grouped into larger complexes;
for example the Count House and Carpenters’ Shop complexes (all unoccupied and
deteriorating), and the hugely significant Mill complex. All of the main buildings on the
site are Grade II* Listed due to their individual or group value, with the exception of
South Condurrow Stamps Engine House, which is Grade II. The entire site is within the
Cornish Mining World Heritage Site (WHS). KEM has Outstanding Universal Value as the
best preserved mine head complex within the WHS for the 1700 - 1914 period for
which the WHS was inscribed by UNESCO.. The museum receives an annual grant from
Cornwall Council.

In December 2010 Cornwall Council commissioned Purcell Miller Tritton and Parkin
Heritage & Tourism to undertake a Condition Survey, Options Appraisal and Outline
Business Plan to understand these buildings and how they could be utilised to develop
the site to make it viable. This was subsequently extended to develop a Master Plan
and Business Plan for the whole site, which was produced in December 2011. Grant
applications are underway to fund the restoration and adaptive re-use of presently
underused buildings in order to generate income to make the site’s continued operation
more sustainable, improve the condition of some of the Listed Buildings, and reinforce
recognition of KEM’s standing within the Cornish Mining World Heritage Site.

A detailed Conservation Management Plan (CMP) for King Edward Mine was produced
by Cornwall Council (CC) Historic Environment Projects in early 2013. Architects and a
Design Team have been appointed in 2012 to produce low impact proposals for
adaptive re-use of the Count House and Carpenters’ Shop complexes, closely following
the conservation philosophy detailed in the CMP.

This Impact Assessment Report will accompany the Listed Building consent application
for adaptive re-use of the Count House and Carpenters’ Shop complexes.
Archaeological impact mitigation recommendations include a programme of historic
buildings consultancy before works start (to ensure the proposals have a minimal
impact), a photographic record prior to and after works to ensure that there is a
detailed record of the works, a Level 3 annotated survey of the sites affected by the
scheme, and production of a detailed archaeological recording after works finish.

However, it should be noted that not all the impacts to the site are known at the
present time, and cannot therefore be commented upon in detail nor mitigation
discussed. For example, a mine shaft has been located beneath the Counthouse west
wall (Mess Building - Site 1), the foundation blocks under the Carpenters’ Shop have
been tested and contain elements of ‘mundic’, and excavation trenches (and therefore
impacts) for drains both inside and outside the buildings are not finalised. In addition,
detailed specifications for internal floor, wall and ceiling works have also not been
finalised. This report should therefore be viewed as a generic impact assessment for the
project.
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Figure 1 Location map of King Edward Mine and surrounding area




2 Introduction

2.1 Project background

King Edward Mine is sited at the western end of the Great Flat Lode, an area
demonstrating key authentic aspects of the 19" and early 20" century Cornish mining
industry. The overall complex has Outstanding Universal Value as the best preserved
mine head complex within the WHS for the relevant 1700-1914 period, and as a
prominent mine site in the best preserved mining landscape within the WHS.

King Edward Mine was developed within a part of the former South Condurrow sett
which worked from 1864 to 1896. It was taken over by the Camborne School of Mines
(CSM) in 1896 and reorganised as a training mine to enable its students to gain
practical experience in all fields of their discipline. Part of the site, which included the
mill complex and its associated buildings, became redundant in 1974 when CSM
relocated from Camborne to Pool. A volunteer group was set up in 1987 to try to
preserve these now redundant structures, to restore the mill and in time to open it as a
museum. This was achieved and the museum opened in 2001. CSM finally terminated
their lease for the whole KEM site in 2005, when responsibility for the operation and
development of the museum passed to King Edward Mine Ltd. (a not for profit
company). In 2009 Cornwall Council acquired the freehold of the site from the
Pendarves Estate. The King Edward Mine site area is entirely in the ownership of CC,
and in 2012 KEM Ltd obtained a 30 year lease from CC.

The complex of structures making up the core area of the King Edward Mine site are
unique in that they were almost all constructed during a single development phase
(1897 - 1907), each for a specific function. It is extremely rare that most of the
original buildings have survived without significant modification. For this reason, many
have been accorded designation as Grade II* Listed Buildings.

However, some elements of the site, in particular the Carpenters’ Shop, Assay Office,
and Count House complexes are not appropriately utilised, and in 2011, proposals were
put forward for their adaptive re-use. A master plan and business plan for the site was
prepared in 2011, and ERDF and HLF grant bids are currently being prepared by
Cornwall Council to achieve these works and the possibility of other schemes to
improve the visitor experience, their engagement with the heritage of the site and area,
and to increase the number of visitors with the overall aim of making the site more
financially sustainable.

A Conservation Management Plan was produced by Historic Environment (Projects) in
early 2013 to set the framework, policies and conservation philosophy to inform and
guide the management and future proposals that could impact upon the site’s setting
character and significance.

This report (commissioned by the Cornwall Culture Team), assesses the impact of the
proposed adaptive re-use building works on the significant assets of the Counthouse
complex and Carpenters’ Shop complex. Poynton, Bradbury, Wynter, Cole Architects
Ltd. (PBWC Ltd) have produced a detailed schedule of works and specifications,
describing how the impact of the proposed works are minimised as part of a coherent
mitigation strategy.

A summary statement of significance relating to structures likely to be affected by the
proposed works has been produced (Section 3.2), followed by a summary table of each
site’s assets (Section 4.3). This report identifies the archaeological impacts resulting
from the proposed adaptive re-use building scheme, and describes the mitigation of the
works on the site’s significant assets. In addition this report refers in detail to the
Conservation Management Plan conservation philosophies and describes how these are
integrated into the architect’s proposals.
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2.2 Aims
The purpose of this impact assessment is to:

1. Assess the impact of the proposed adaptive re-use building works to the
Counthouse and Carpenters’ Shop complexes on the significance and character of
King Edward Mine. This report will be considered as part of the Listed Building
Consent application, which will be sent to both the area Conservation Officer and
English Heritage (Francis Kelly).

2. Indicate the steps that have already been taken by the historic buildings consultant
(HBC) to avoid or minimise adverse impacts upon the site, its features and
archaeology.

3. Ensure that the site methodologies and principles accord with the conservation
philosophies as detailed in the Conservation Management Plan, and accord with
general EH guidance on the Conservation/adaption of Historic buildings.

4. Indicate that the proposed methods and techniques are appropriate to the history,
character and outstanding universal value (OUV) of the site and accords with the
Cornish Mining World Heritage Site revised management plan (2013 - 2018).

Make recommendations for an archaeological mitigation strategy.

Ensure the detailed site information presented by PBWC Ltd conform to the overall
mitigation strategy for the site.

2.3 Conservation philosophy
General conservation philosophy

A site’s importance may relate to its historic heritage, its ecological or mineralogical
heritage, or more usually, to a combination of two or more of these factors. Statutory
designations (Listed Buildings etc) and non-statutory designations (World Heritage
Site), may well affect or constrain the scope of a proposed project and detailed
consultation with relevant statutory agencies will need to take place both prior to and
during a project, with a marked emphasis on a continual dialogue with consultants,
focussing on the preservation of the historic character of the mining landscape and
buildings.

Conservation work usually involves more than just the consolidation of a building or
structure. The work carried out must respect its character and should take into account
future access and interpretation, as well as the integrity of its surroundings. It is
particularly important that all of these aspects are considered from the outset to avoid
situations where consolidation or safety works compromise future plans for the site.
Thus the process of professional dialogue and assessments needs to be co-ordinated,
often by a conservation accredited architect, and broadly follow the pattern of
Assessment (or Conservation Management Plan), Evaluation (excavation or in this case
Impact Assessment), and Mitigation (the results of an agreed Mitigation Strategy). If
the project manager is not a conservation accredited architect then the assistance and
close liaison of a Historic Buildings Consultant is very important before, during and after
works have finished to ensure communication protocol with the respective statutory
agencies and to ensure that the works are undertaken to the required standard.

Therefore disturbance to a site should be kept to the minimum required to achieve the
aims of the schedule of works and impact assessment mitigation strategy (all of which
should have been designed in close consultation with appropriate statutory agencies i.e.
EH, CC (HE Advice), etc. Thus the site should be (as far as possible) left in an enhanced
or similar condition as when work started.

Building conservation/adaptive re-use

The conservation of a structure is likely to include a combination of one or more of the
following approaches: Stabilisation, Partial or full Repair, Selective or full Demolition
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and adaptive Re-use. Schedules of work should incorporate some flexibility of approach
and be tailored to specific site conditions and problems. The particular options selected
are likely to be influenced as much by immediate objectives (e.g. stopgap measures to
prevent further deterioration), as long term aims intended to serve for many decades,
but should always take into consideration the intended long-term use of both the
structures and the sites within which they stand.

Wherever possible, conservation approaches should be based on carrying out repairs
rather than rebuilding, other options being resorted to only where absolutely necessary.
Other structural remediation works are likely to necessitate operations such as masonry
removal and re-setting, masonry replacement, re-installation of lintels and other
structural timber or stonework, pointing and weatherproofing of areas of exposed walls
and perhaps reinstatement or replacement of roof structures and coverings.

The conservation philosophy should be based on principles of replication of existing
specifications, perhaps adopting an appropriate period style (if large scale
refurbishment is necessary), and following a basic principle of impact reversibility. For
example when considering replacement window styles for the Counthouse complex,
appropriate archive evidence needs to be provided to substantiate a general principle of
replacement for a number of later windows, especially when the adjacent building
(Carpenter’s Shop) still has its original windows, all dating from the early 20" century
when many new buildings were constructed across the site.

Specifications

¢ Traditional building materials (e.g.: brick, stone, or appropriate timber) can be used
when consolidating historic buildings.

¢ Traditional lime mortar mixes should generally be used, using locally sourced
aggregates to match the original mortar composition or locally sourced rab for the
Counthouse Complex. Mortar test panels should be made to permit the selection of
appropriate aggregate mixes/colour and finish before the pointing work is
undertaken.

e Cement and modern materials should be used very rarely and only when the need
for their use can be demonstrated.

e Where possible the original form and specification of windows, gutters, downpipes,
timber weatherboarding etc should be researched by viewing archive information
and reference on site, to replicate and compliment the existing style found at KEM, if
replacement is warranted.

Whatever approach is taken, the need for flexibility, sensitivity, authenticity and above
all, reversibility must be recognised from the outset, and, where possible incorporated
into the design brief.

3 Statements of Significance

3.1 Definition of Outstanding Universal Value and Significance

The Outstanding Universal Value (OUV) of the Cornwall and West Devon Mining
Landscape was described in the Nomination document for World Heritage Site Status
‘The Cornwall and West Devon Mining Landscape was transformed during the period
1700 - 1914 by early industrial development that made a key contribution to the
evolution of an industrialised economy and society in the United Kingdom, and
throughout the world. Its outstanding survival, in a coherent series of distinctive
cultural landscapes, is testimony to this achievement’. The ‘'coherent series of
distinctive cultural landscapes’ comprises ten areas of Cornwall, one of which is the
Camborne and Redruth Mining District (Area A5i). There are seven main components
identified in the Nomination Document through which the OUV is physically expressed:
Mine sites, Mine transport, Ancillary industries, Mining settlements and social

11
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infrastructure, miners smallholdings, Great Houses and estates, and Mineralogical and
other sites of scientific importance. Individual aspects of the cultural heritage making
up the Site have differing levels of significance; some may be of an international
importance, whilst others will be of national, regional or local significance (OUV of the
Cornwall and West Devon Mining Landscape, 2007, 2).

The Outstanding Universal Value statement for WHS Area A5i is: 'The mid-west
Central Mining District, the richest non-ferrous metal mining district of the late C18th
and first half of the C19tn, the most populated, most urbanised, the most innovative in
the Site, an internationally significant centre for safety-fuse and rock-drill manufacture
and an epicentre of migration ... King Edward Mine, the former practical training base
for students at the world-famous Camborne School of Mines, is one of Cornwall’s two
complete mine sites and contains a unique collection of restored historical machinery’.

Once the overall relative significance of mine sites has become apparent, through
statutory (Scheduling), non statutory (WHS areas) designation, and the process of
compiling a conservation management plan, identifying and prioritising significant
elements within the mine site can take place. These are usually graded in relative
categories from High, Medium to Low.

3.2 Statements of Significance for King Edward Mine

International significance
Significance of the Site to the World Heritage Site

King Edward Mine is a central pillar within the Cornish Mining World Heritage Site
(WHS). The overall complex has Outstanding Universal Value as the best preserved
mine head complex within the WHS for the 1700 - 1914 period for which the WHS was
inscribed by UNESCO. Outstanding Universal Value is a central theme of the World
Heritage Convention, and it means exceptional international significance. It is only used
for heritage which meets the World Heritage Convention relevant criteria and conditions
of integrity, authenticity and management for the particular WHS.

King Edward Mine, sited at the western end of the Great Flat Lode is the oldest
complete 19'"/early 20" century mine site and the most significant example left in
Cornwall, demonstrating key authentic aspects of the Cornish mining industry. In
addition, it is virtually a complete example of a late 19™ and early 20™ century mine
training school (by Camborne School of Mines to learn practical mining, mineral
processing and surveying). As such it was of international importance for training
mining professionals. Camborne graduates are known and respected throughout the
international mining industry maintaining the influence that Cornwall has had on the
mining world over the past two centuries.

Of special significance is the nature and extent of working examples of 19" and 20%
century tin dressing equipment and mine machinery at KEM, many of which are unique
or rare survivals in the world. Stored within the site is an extensive collection of
Trevithick Society artefacts, many of which are internationally rare examples.

There are only five mine sites in the World Heritage Site that are left with substantial
elements of their original equipment; there will not be any more. Three are in close
proximity in the former Camborne/Redruth Mining District, where tin mining continued
through much of the twentieth century. They collectively and predominantly represent
exceptional survivals from the first quarter of the twentieth century and all contribute
to the best preserved mining landscape in the Cornish Mining WHS.

KEM lies within the Camborne and Redruth Mining District (WHS Area A5i), amidst one
of the densest concentrations of significant industrial sites anywhere within the WHS. It
lies within the south-western sector of the Area and at the western end of the Great
Flat Lode; a landscape renowned particularly, for its tin mining and dressing (mineral
processing) archaeology.

12
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National significance
King Edward Mine individual buildings

The entire KEM site contains over thirty nationally significant buildings, many part of
larger complexes; namely the Counthouse complex, the Carpenters’ Shop complex, the
Assay Office complex and the Mill complex - all of which are Grade II* Listed, with the
exception of the nearby South Condurrow Stamps Engine House which is Grade II.
Within the CMP area to the east, the Fortescue pumping and winding engine houses are
also Scheduled Monuments of National importance.

Significance of individual buildings to group value

All the major buildings on the site are Grade II* Listed because of their group value,
with the exception of South Condurrow Stamps Engine House. The KEM complex is of
the highest integrity with exceptional group value that represents key authentic aspects
of the Cornish mining industry and a training school site (Camborne School of Mines) of
international significance. The significant sites within the core complex includes the
Counthouse and Carpenters’ Shop complexes (See Figure 4: Sites 1-7, and 11-14);
both are highly significant, and retain high degrees of originality and character
(although this may be masked externally). Other significant sites are either rebuilt or
lack degrees of originality etc.

Significance to Cornwall

King Edward Mine Museum now performs a role as a visitor and educational gateway
centre to provide interpretation and orientation for the Camborne and Redruth Mining
District of the WHS. It also features relevant WHS interpretation strategy themes for
Mining the Resource: the Great Flat Lode; Cornish tin dressing (with steam stamping);
Camborne: Engineering Town of the West, including in particular Holman’s and the
‘Widow Maker’ Holmans rock drills, including the Mineral Tramways multi-use trails that
have been created within the past decade.

Other local and popular mining heritage attractions in this WHS Mining District include
Heartlands and East Pool Mine. KEM will further develop joint co-operation and help to
promote their combined industrial heritage relationship, which will be of great potential
significance in the future.

4 Counthouse and Carpenters’ Shop complexes

4.1 Site history (summary)

Following the establishment of Camborne School of Mines in 1896, the eastern section
of South Condurrow Mine (1864-1896) was leased from the Pendarves Estate and
renamed King Edward Mine (KEM) in 1901. Three years later after the mine was
equipped with new surface machinery, buildings and a new Mill, it was successfully
operating as a training facility (above and below ground) for students of Camborne
School of Mines, the main practical mine training school in the country.

The new Stamps and Mill building were built first, followed by the Carpenters’ Complex
in c1903. King Edward Mine had no building for a Counthouse (administrative offices), a
Carpenters’ Shop, an Assay office or Machine Shop, as South Condurrow Mine still
retained ownership of these original sites (Sites 1 - 6). It does seem therefore that
soon after the new timber shiplap construction of the Carpenters’ Shop (Sites 11 - 14),
South Condurrow Mine folded (in 1903) and gave up the lease of the (earlier)
Counthouse and Assay Complexes (Sites 1 - 10). All of which was subsequently
purchased by KEM in the same year. An aerial view of the site is shown in Figure 2.

Figure 4 is a site inventory map of all the King Edward Mine buildings. Construction of
buildings from the early 20" century continued after the Carpenters’ Shop (Sites 11-
16), a Calciner (Site 21), a new Mill (Site 26), and a new Winding engine boiler house
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(Site 25 - after 35 years of use a more modern efficient boiler was necessary!). Also at
this time a new (Californian) Stamps (Site 27), and a new steam Mill engine (Site 28),
were installed. In 1907, when it was plain that the cost of renewing the existing
winding engine was prohibitive (and the new boiler that had been installed had not
really helped proceedings), a decision was taken to site a new building for the
installation of a new twin drum horizontal steam winder (Site 30). This stayed in-situ
until the 1940s when it was sold to Castle an Dinas wolfram mine.

This mine complex retained the same building footprint for approximately 60 years until
the mid 1960s when a few relatively un-noteworthy buildings were added - mostly of
galvanised steel and timber frame construction. Happily, it appears all of the timber
buildings that had been erected during the early 1900s have been regularly maintained
- no doubt resulting in their excellent general condition in the 21% century. The build
quality of reconstruction of the steam engine and compressor houses in 2009, after
they had been burnt down in 1957, is perhaps testament to the conservation
philosophy of the King Edward Mine volunteers, reflecting the site’s significance,
character and closely following EH guidance for its conservation philosophy (Section
2.3).

Part of the site, which included the mill complex and associated buildings became
redundant in 1974 when CSM relocated from Camborne to Pool. A volunteer group was
set up in 1987 to try to preserve these now redundant structures, to restore the mill
and in time to open it as a museum. This was achieved and the museum opened in
2001. CSM finally terminated their lease for the whole KEM site in 2005, when
responsibility for the operation and development of the museum passed to King Edward
Mine Ltd. (a not for profit company). In 2009 Cornwall Council acquired the freehold of
the site from the Pendarves Estate.

A more detailed history of the site is produced in the King Edward Mine Conservation
Management Plan (Buck 2013).

4.2 Project background information

In December 2010 Cornwall Council commissioned Purcell Miller Tritton and Parkin
Heritage & Tourism to undertake a Condition Survey, Options Appraisal and Outline
Business Plan to understand these buildings and how they could be utilised to develop
the site and make it viable. This was subsequently extended to develop a Master Plan
and Business Plan for the whole site, which was produced in December 2011. Grant
applications under the EU Convergence Programme are underway to fund the
restoration and adaptive re-use to rentable workspaces of presently underused
buildings (the Carpenters’ Shop and Count House complexes) in order to generate
income to make the site’s continued operation more sustainable, improve the condition
of some of the Listed Buildings, and reinforce recognition of KEM’s standing within the
Cornish Mining World Heritage Site.

The site inventory map for the core King Edward Mine buildings is reproduced in Figure
4. This shows site numbering for every building and a cross reference to the
appropriate detail record sheet given in the two sections below. The history of the
phased development of each site or complex is described in each specific detail record
sheet however a general summary is also given. Figure 3 is an aerial photograph of
KEM with building functions labelled.

In order to promote the sustainability of King Edward Mine in the future, it is important
to understand the site’s significant assets, particularly as the site has such high
statutory designations and is such a significant part of the World Heritage Site; by
analysing in detail all significant buildings, features, fittings etc and in particular those
sites that may be impacted by future projects, for example adaptive re-use. This
information can then be given to the relevant officers and architects to enable them to
mitigate negative impacts, and promote positive specifications.

14
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Figure 3 A plan showing existing views of King Edward Mine transposed onto a phase map of site development. Only the Counthouse and
Carpenters’ Shop sites are relevant to this report.
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Figure 4 A core plan site inventory map of King Edward mine buildings. Refer to the Table 1 for site number descriptions
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4.3 Summary table of building conservation works
King Edward mine core plan site inventory table of buildings impacted by the proposed changes

Site | Site NGR (SW) MCO No. | LB Ref. | EH HAR | Existing | Proposed Assess Site Physical
No. Register| function | function Sheet | Impact Impact
No. (Rating) (comments)
1 Count House Complex: 66314 38925 | 56569 1142685 Yes Unused Workspace R1 R (M) High external
Mess Room visual and
internal impacts
2 Count House Complex: 66319 38931 | 56569 1142685 Yes Unused Offices R1/R2 R (H) High external
Count House Office visual and
internal impacts
3 Count House Complex: 66328 38935 | 56569 1142685 Yes Unused Workspace R1 R (H) High external
Smithy visual and
internal impacts
4 Count House Complex: 66333 38947 | 56710 1132883 Yes Unused Workspace R1/R3 R (H) High external
Miners’ Dry visual and
internal impacts
5 Count House Complex: 66344 38953 | 56710 132883 Yes Unused Male/Female R1 R (M) High external
Carpenters’ Shop toilets visual and
internal impacts
11 Carpenters’ Shop Complex: | 66336 38913 | 56719 1159182 No Unused Workspace R5 R (M) Low external
(Offices/Carpenters visual and high
Shop/Machining room) internal impacts
12 | Carpenters’ Shop Complex: | 66340 38913 | 56719 1159182 No Unused Workspace R5 R (M) Low external
(Carpenters’ Shop visual and
extension for saw mill) internal impacts
13 | Carpenters’ Shop Complex: | 66347 38920 | 56719 1159182 No Unused Workspace R5 R (M) Low external
(Assay Office) visual and
internal impacts
14 Carpenters’ Shop Complex: | 66349 38924 | 56719 1159182 No Store Store R5 R (L) Low external

(Stores/Dark Room)

visual and
internal impacts
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Note:

e Site number relates to core site inventory plan (Fig 4)

e MCO No. is the unique identifier given to each record in the HBSMR

e LB Ref. is the National List Entry number on the National Heritage List for England

e EH HAR Register: English Heritage at Risk Register 2012

e Assess Sheet No. related to the relevant Detail Record Sheets (Sections 6.2.1 and 6.3.1)

e The impact significance column shows that all sites are regionally important '‘R’. The letter in
brackets (H=High, M=Medium, L=Low) summarises the impact of the proposed works on the
site, Section 5 and the site inventory text describes this in more detail (Section 5.2.1)

e Many unused buildings are currently used for temporary storage by Trevithick Society/KEM for a
variety of items of historical interest

The methodology of approaching the issue of sustainability to such significant buildings has been to
focus on two fronts; firstly, to utilise and adapt existing building surveys of the mine to assess each
building’s significance, originality and phasing. Secondly, to produce building record sheets (for
significant sites only), describing in detail all aspects of the building’s history, condition, function,
significant features, contents/fittings, machinery, and if appropriate, any known recent site impacts.
These sheets are in effect, conservation statements. But they also include information relating to
proposed impacts, a result of the proposed scheme for adaptive re-use and to promote future
sustainability of the entire site as a whole.

5 Assessment of impact and mitigation

5.1 Impact significance definitions

The potential impacts during works are described below (and summarised in tabular form in Table
1), for each site. Impacts are described in the text section for each site on a feature-by-feature
basis. The following site impact terms are used within each site identification description relating to
the impact assessment and site gazetteer:

Major positive Site continues in, or is restored to, its original design and use

Moderate positive Site restored as far as possible respecting its original function, but its use is
altered

Minor positive Site partially restored; interpretation introduced

Negligible positive Stabilisation/maintenance of site

Negligible negative Benignh neglect - losses of fabric over a long period of time

Minor negative Site suffers areas of alteration or damage, which contribute to loss of meaning
Moderate negative Significant loss of fabric or alteration, leading to erosion of original character

Major negative Complete demolition/removal

5.2 King Edward mine adaptive re-use project

5.2.1 Site impact and remediation summary

Figures 2 to 4 show the spatial relationship between the buildings that will be impacted; namely the
Counthouse and Carpenters’ Shop complexes by the adaptive re-use project. The King Edward Mine
Conservation Management Plan contains a detailed significance and character description and a
conservation philosophy (Section 2.3), that has informed and guided the architect and design team
when forming the proposals.

Proposed physical and visual impacts are varied for both building complexes; the Counthouse
complex being of traditional 1860’s construction with stone and (originally) slate, whilst the
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Carpenters’ Shop complex was built in 1903 of timber and slate. Although the proposed functional
use of these buildings are similar (mainly workshops and offices), the impacts to these different
construction forms are markedly different. Refer to Figs 6 and 8 for new Unit references etc.

Counthouse Complex

Externally, the Counthouse complex will have its 1960s cementitious render carefully removed, the
mortar joints repointed and the walls painted white. The roofs are to be re-slated (the existing sheet
roofing removed), and two chimneys rebuilt (and roof vents for the Smithy), that are shown to exist
in the early decades of the 20" century - a period that was highly significant for the KEM site, and
for which detailed archive information is evidenced. The same conservation principles extend to
proposed changes of window design, as many of the existing are of late construction and failing in
places. These external and visual impacts are therefore high and significant. However, they can be
seen in the context of reversing previous late 19" century physical impacts that were not consistent
in terms of following any conservation philosophy, rather one of practicality and cost cutting
measures - both of which have effectively reduced the character of the complex.

Internally, the consequences of dampness through lack of use and heating have affected the lower
walls and floor joists — especially in the Counthouse building itself. Remediation impacts will need to
include re-plastering, re-timbering and the consequence of adhering to 21 century building
regulations for insulation measures. There is no doubt also that the impact of the provision of
additional toilets for the proposed new offices and workshops will impact upon the internal character
of the building, and archaeologically through below ground excavation for drains. This provision of
toilets for commercial workspaces is a normal requirement of ERDF funding and is expected by most
suitable tenants. The proposed new toilets and showers in the Miners’ Dry should not detract from
the building’s existing character, as this part of the building has always been used for washing and
changing. The proposed scheme reflects 21% century functional changes of individual style for
washing and changing, all of which are reversible.

New external concrete ramps (to underline the ‘industrial’ nature of the site), are required to provide
inclusive access to two of the entrances and the toilet facilities. These will be specified as
appropriate for their setting, be reversible and to minimise their impact. The provision of inclusive
access is an important factor in ERDF funding eligibility which is vital for this project. Their impacts
are considered to be reasonably outweighed by the consequent benefits.

Carpenters’ Shop Complex

Externally, the Carpenters’ Shop Complex will have its artificial slate roofing removed and replaced
with traditional scantle slate to restore this complex to its original appearance in line with the
adopted conservation approach. This will be an enhancement to the building. The timber ship-lap
walls will be cleaned, sanded where necessary and re-painted. Defective timber will be replaced or
sections re-scarfed. Generally the windows are to be repaired and retained with existing style
(1903); one boarded over window is to be revealed and one former doorway reinstated. A minor
alteration is proposed to an existing doorway to resolve an access issue. The restoration of parapet
wall details and an assay chimney will also restore these buildings’ original skyline in line with the
adopted conservation approach. This will also provide visual evidence about the previous uses of the
spaces below. These external and visual impacts are therefore visually significant, although their
physical impact is less so, accentuating the character of the complex.

Internally, there is less impact to provide an alternative and more sustainable change of use. The
minor internal alterations that are envisaged include the creation of Unit 2.1, which has an
accessible WC fitted into an existing space. A timber internal ramp and new opening are also formed
which allows full use of this space with the minimum of external alteration. Unit 2.2 is formed by the
sealing of two existing openings. No alterations are required to create unit 2.3. These units will use
the WC facilities with the Count House Complex in order to avoid further internal impacts to the
building.

Two of the three units in this building can be easily accessed, but unit 2.3 requires a new access
ramp. This is sited on the south-east side which is noted as a significant external surface. The ramp
will be designed to be a free-standing galvanised steel element with no impact on the existing
surface. The visual impact is considered to be reasonable in light of the overall benefit.
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Other general impacts:

Site compounds and site (vehicular) access

The works will involve installation of services which will require some excavation externally. The
main external areas will be repaired and relaid using similar or re-used materials to retain the
current character. These sites are not shown in this report (their nature and extent are not known at
present). Where shown, finer grain matching material will be used to create paths suitable for
wheelchair users. Elsewhere existing surfaces will be retained. Car parking may be demarcated with
recessed granite blocks set flush with a relaid surface material similar to existing. Thus, there will be
very little impact on the character of the existing (industrial ‘feel’) surface surrounding both building
complexes.

Site compounds will be at a mutually agreeable site (to KEM) close to these buildings but not
affecting nor impacting upon the publicly accessible and working operation of the museum. Site
vehicular access will be via the existing access road into the complex.

Impact reduction measures:

Detailed liaison with the project’'s conservation accredited architect (Paul Perry, PBWC Ltd) and
appropriate statutory officers (EH, Conservation Officers and County Planners), non statutory
advisers (Historic Environment Projects and KEM Ltd), with additional input from a public open
consultation event (20 March), throughout the design and specification process have ensured that
the impacts have been reduced as much as possible, and the scheme accords with the general
conservation philosophy produced in the Conservation Management Plan.

An historic buildings consultancy, and archaeological recording before and during the site works may
be able to minimise any further below ground site impacts, but also record any visible/disturbed
archaeological features and to record the nature and extent of the building conservation works.

Residual impact mitigation:

There will be a number of visual residual impacts - mainly affecting the Counthouse Complex, but
these have been deemed to be positive, accentuating the character of this complex and reversing
previous impacts that were not conducive to the character and setting of this highly significant mine
complex. However, the (new) residual visual impact will soon fade from people’s memories, as the
benefits in terms of increased commercial use and public access will come to fruition to improve the
long term sustainability of KEM, and will be seen to be a substantial public gain.

6 Site inventory impact description and remediation measures
6.1 Methodology

The following sites are described in more detail in the Conservation Management Plan (Buck 2013,
Section 3.6.1 (Counthouse Complex) and Section 3.6.3 (Carpenters’ Shop Complex Detail Record).
All the sites mentioned are summarised in Section 5.2.1, and all have variable impacts. The
proposed works for each site are described, followed by a section describing the reduction (or
mitigation and remediation) of each impact, followed by a final section which details the residual
impact. To avoid repetitive duplication in this site inventory section, site impact and remediation
measures already given in Section 5.2.1 are not reproduced - simply referred to.

The following annotated survey plans for the Counthouse Complex, and the Carpenters’ Shop
complex have been reproduced (with permission) from drawings produced by PBWC Ltd, as part of
Listed Building Applications for planning permission for change of use. The following detail record
sheets provide the site background for each significant part of the complex. They describe in detail
all aspects of the building’s history, condition, function, significant features, contents/fittings,
machinery, and the proposed site impacts.

¢ R1 Counthouse Complex (Sites 1-7)
e R2 Counthouse Complex (Office: Site 2)
e R3 Counthouse Complex (Miners Dry: Site 4)
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e R5 Carpenters’ Shop complex (Sites 11-14 but focus on Site 11)

6.2 Counthouse Complex

6.2.1 Detail record sheets
Site name: KING EDWARD MINE Sheet R1
Building Count House Complex (Sites 1 - 7: Overall summary)

name/identifier:

Survey date:

2/8/2012

Designations:

Listed Building Grade II* (Ref. 1142685 - Counthouse and Smith’s
Shop), Listed Building Grade II* (Ref. 11328113 - Miners’ Dry). This
site is on the EH Building at Risk Register 2012.

Location:

NGR: SW 6632 3892 North side of KEM site. Block Plan Fig 4

Building at Risk:

Yes

Recorder:

C Buck

Survey Plan Ref:

Proposed Survey Plan (PBWC Dwg. No. 3188 (PR Site) 010
Annotated Proposed Survey Plan (PBWC Dwg. No. 3188 (PR Co) 010/A
Annotated Proposed Survey Elevations (PBWC Dwg. No. 3188 (PR Co)
011/B

Site map and
photograph:

Construction materials:

(walls, roof, floor, ceiling,
windows, doors):

External: Corrugated asbestos roof sheeting replaced original
slate in 1950s. Cementitious pebble dashed render over
original granite quoins and stone masonry with earth
rab/lime mortar. Only one original window appears to remain
(Site 4), the remainder of later different 20™ century styles.
Many original chimneys removed (including Counthouse,
Smithy forge etc).

Internal: Buildings have been unoccupied leading to damp,
floors and walls. Counthouse Office has dry lining of
plasterboard and painted woodchip wallpaper on some walls,
covering damp lime plaster. Cement plastering in places.
Many original plaster ceilings replaced. Floor joists in office
collapsing. Smithy building has had major alterations
(possibly 1960s). Miners Dry ceiling fully built over, walls
faced with granolithic plaster (to create a wet room). Some
original doors/floorboards and some dado rails.
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Build date:

Mess Room (Site 1) c1870s. Counthouse Office (Site 2)
c1864/5. Smithy (Site 3) 1865-1877. Miners’ Dry (Site 4)
1865-1877. Carpenters’ Shop (Site 5) 1865-1877. Store
(Site 6) 1960s. Outhouse/chimney/store (Site 6) 1865-1877.

Modification date:

Complex re-roofed (some rafters replaced with steel) in mid
1950s. Windows replaced during 20" century, possibly twice.
Internal asbestos sheeting added to some walls and some re-
plastering at a similar date. Office/Mess room relatively
unaltered, but the Smithy buildings have been drastically
altered at various times (possibly 1960s onwards). Miners’
Dry walls re-plastered and ceiling rebuilt to infill balcony
(1960s onwards). Carpenters’ Shop internally unrecognisable
when transformed into toilets (1960s).

Original function:

South Condurrow Mine: Counthouse, Smithy, Miners’ Dry and
Carpenters’ Shop.

Current function:

Mess Room (Site 1): Unused. Count House Office (Site 2):
Unused. Smithy (Site 3): Storage of some Trevithick Society
items. Miners’ Dry (Site 4): Wet room (unused). Carpenters’
Shop (Site 5): Male toilets. Store (Site 6): Used.

Proposed function:

Mess Room (Site 1): Workspace. Count House Office (Site
2): Rented office space. Smithy (Site 3): Workspace. Miners’
Dry (Site 4): Workspace. Carpenters’ Shop (Site 5): Men'’s
and Women'’s toilets with shower facilities. Store (Site 6):
Unchanged as store.

Significant
features/contents:

Mess Room (Site 1): Possibly original wall plaster finish.
Count House Office (Site 2): Some original lime wall plaster
and original floorboards. Original fireplace in office. Smithy
(Site 3): No visible significant original features. Miners’ Dry
(Site 4): Original roof joists. Carpenters’ Shop (Site 5): No
visible significant original features. Outhouse/store (Site 7):
Possibly original wall footprint.

Original fixtures and
fittings:

Mess Room (Site 1): Dado Rails. Count House Office (Site 2):
Some original doors/architraves. Original fireplace in office.
Miners’ Dry (Site 4) and Carpenters’ Shop (Site 5): 1960s
modifications obscured original details. Most window
openings appear to be original dimensions with original brick
cills, but windows mostly of later date. Window and frame at
south west corner of Miners’ dry may be original (small
paned).

Machinery:

Not applicable. Smithy building used for temporary storage
of Holman’s compressors etc for Trevithick Society.

Summary description:

Count House Complex is Listed Grade II* and now on EH
Buildings at Risk Register (2012). The Count House was built
first, closely followed by the remainder of the buildings in a
single connected complex to serve the needs of South
Condurrow Mine (1865-1896). From 1903 the buildings were
used to serve the training needs and administration of
Camborne School of Mines. Externally, it appears the original
slate roof of all buildings in this complex was replaced in the
1950/60s, as well as re-rendering the external walls with
cementitious pebble dash. It is likely many original windows
were also replaced at this time. Internally, there were major
alterations to the Smithy and Miners’ Dry during the
following decade - presumably to suit the training needs of
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the mining students. In the past, the Count House Office has
suffered from damp, the walls being dry lined (twice), re-
plastered and floor joists affected by damp rot. However, the
Counthouse building is relatively unaltered compared to
others in this complex.

Completeness and
condition:

This is a rare example of a 19™ century Cornish mine
complex housing the Count House Office, the Smithy, the
Miners’ Dry and Carpenters’ Shop. Internally, the Office (Site
2) and Mess room (Site 1) are the most unaltered buildings,
retaining degrees of original features.

Significance/conservation
strategy:

The historic group value of this complex of buildings is highly
significant (these are often separate buildings). However,
individually, given the extent of the 1950s and later repairs
and modifications externally and internally affecting site
character, each building is therefore less significant. In any
future building conservation/adaptive reuse project,
replacement of the asbestos roof with slate, removal of the
exterior pebble dash and repointing with an appropriate
mortar, and repairing floor joists where appropriate would go
a long way to restoring the original character of this
complex. The issue of window replacement to an agreed
design (reflecting a significant period of the site) will need to
be debated with conservation professionals, but a
conservation philosophy would relate to minimising impacts
and reflecting/mimicking original details where they have
been consistently applied, for example drain gutters and
downpipe details for the Counthouse (c1860s). For new
Counthouse replacement windows again I feel that any
decision on window style should reflect basic conservation
philosophy (a compromise between the spec that was
included in the Listing detail and the original form). The
agreed window style should be consistently used throughout
the complex. However, it is likely that internal secondary
glazing may be required for change of use and to meet
current building regulations.

EH at Risk Register 2012:

Count House (Site 2), Blacksmiths Shop (Site 3), and Miners’
Dry (Site 4).

Additional requirements
for future projects/any
other factors affecting
reuse/repair etc:

Given the masking of the external walls by a Ilater
cementitious pebble dash, a structural assessment of the
building after removal may be necessary, to assess if there
are structural remediation works that may impact the
building. Internal photographic survey should be undertaken
before proposed works. Re-use of original internal features
(doors, architraves, (unblock fireplace) etc), is
recommended. It may be appropriate to rebuild the
chimneys that have been removed if funding and consent is
given. The use of lime wash as an exterior finish should be
considered and maintenance implications discussed.
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Site name:

KING EDWARD MINE Sheet R2

Building

name/identifier:

Count House Complex: Count House Office (Site 2)

Survey date:

2/8/2012

Designations: Listed Building Grade II* (Ref. 1142685 - Counthouse). This site is on
the EH Building at Risk Register 2012,
Location: NGR: SW 66319 3829 North side of KEM site. Block Plan Fig 4

Building at Risk:

Yes

Recorder:

C Buck

Plan Ref:

Proposed Survey Plan (PBWC Dwg. No. 3188 (PR Site) 010
Annotated Proposed Survey Plan (PBWC Dwg. No. 3188 (PR Co) 010/A
Annotated Proposed Survey Elevations (PBWC Dwg. No. 3188 (PR Co)
011/B

Site map and
photograph:

Construction materials:

(walls, roof, floor, ceiling,
windows, doors):

External: Corrugated asbestos sheeting replaced slate in
1950s. Cementitious pebble dashed render over original
granite quoins and stone masonry with lime mortar. Windows
are mostly 1970s replacements and other styles. Original
chimneys removed. First floor windows blocked up.

Internal: This building has been unoccupied leading to damp
floors and walls. Office has dry lining of plasterboard and
painted woodchip wallpaper on some walls, covering damp
lime plaster. Cement plastering in places. Many original
plaster ceilings replaced with fibreboard. Floor joists in front
office collapsing (dry rot). At rear some modifications to
partitions, with original staircase to first floor (storage space)
removed. Some original doors/floorboards/architrave and
fireplace (removed/blocked up on east side).

Build date:

Counthouse Office constructed c1864/5 as South Condurrow
Mine Count House (shown in elevation on 1865 mine plan).
The mine retained this complex until 1903 when it ceased
operating. The lease was then sold by the Pendarves Estate
to Camborne School of Mines.

Modification date:

In approximately the 1930s the interior of the building was
dry lined with asbestos/cement sheets, no doubt the dado
rails removed at the time. The building was re-roofed (some
rafters replaced with steel) in the 1950s with corrugated
asbestos sheets. Exterior pebble dash in cement render
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probably added at a similar time. Possibly at least three
periods of window replacement (from the 1890s onwards).
The earlier internal dry lining was removed in the 1990s and
replaced with plasterboard and some new skirtings. The floor
was re-laid with lino. Ceilings removed at some date and
replaced with fibre board (probably 1960-70s). Staircase to
first floor removed at an early date and modifications to
timber partitions at rear of building, both at unknown dates.

Original function:

Count House Office for South Condurrow Mine (1864-1903),
then Camborne School of Mines admin office up to 1974.

Current function:

Unused.

Proposed function:

To be converted by adaptive reuse for rented office space.

Significant
features/contents:

South Condurrow Mine Count House which retains its original
plan and design. Some original lime wall plaster, original
floorboards, doors and architraves. Original fireplace in south
west office. South east fireplace not visible but opening
probably blocked up. Some original timber partitions at rear
of building are still extant (painted white).

Original fixtures and
fittings:

Original window openings. Internally, some original
doors/architraves and floorboards. Original fireplace in south
west office, but original opening for south east office
probably infilled.

Machinery:

Not applicable.

Summary description:

All buildings within the Count House Complex are Listed
Grade II* and are on the EH Buildings at Risk Register
(2012). The Count House (office) was built first to serve the
needs of South Condurrow Mine (1865-1896). It was then
used to serve the administration needs of Camborne School
of Mines. Externally, it appears the original slate roof of the
building was replaced in the 1950s, as well as re-rendering
the external walls with cementitious pebble dash. It is likely
the windows were also replaced at this time. The Count
House Office has suffered from damp, the walls being dry
lined and floor joists affected by damp rot. An original
fireplace remains, its equivalent on the opposite ground floor
side has been removed or infilled. The original lath and
plaster ceilings have been replaced with fibreboard, however
this building is relatively unaltered - its appearance mainly
affected by changes to the external fabric.

Completeness and
condition:

This is a rare example of a relatively unaltered (in plan) 19"
century Count House Office, retaining a few original fittings
and features.

Significance/conservation
strategy:

The historic group value of this building within this complex
is highly significant. However, individually, given the extent
of the 1960s repairs/modifications externally and internally
affecting site character, each building is less significant.
Replacement of the asbestos roof with slate, removal of the
exterior pebble dash and repointing with an appropriate
mortar, and repairing floor joists where appropriate would go
a long way to restoring the original character of this building.
The issue of window replacement will need to be debated
with conservation professionals (refer to Record Sheet R1).
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EH at Risk Register 2012:

Count House (Site 2)

Additional requirements
for proposed work/any
other factors affecting

Given the masking of the external walls by a later
cementitious pebble dash, a structural assessment of the
building after removal may be necessary, to assess if there

reuse/repair etc:

are structural remediation works that may impact the
building. Internal photographic survey before proposed
works. Re-use of original internal features (doors,
architraves, (unblock fireplace) etc), is recommended. It may
be appropriate to rebuild the chimneys that have been
removed if funding and consent is given. The use of lime
wash as an exterior finish should be considered and
maintenance implications discussed.

Site name:

KING EDWARD MINE Sheet R3

Building

name/identifier:

Count House Complex: Miners’ Dry (Site 4)

Survey date:

2/8/2012

Designations:

Listed Building Grade II* (Ref. 11328113 - Miners’ Dry). This site is
on the EH Building at Risk Register 2012.

Location:

NGR: SW 66335 38947 North side of KEM site. Block Plan Fig 4

Building at Risk:

Yes

Recorder:

C Buck

Plan Ref:

Proposed Survey Plan (PBWC Dwg. No. 3188 (PR Site) 010A
Annotated Proposed Survey Plan (PBWC Dwg. No. 3188 (PR Co) 010/A
Annotated Proposed Survey Elevations (PBWC Dwg. No. 3188 (PR Co)
011/B

Site map and
photograph:

Construction materials:

(walls, roof, floor, ceiling,
windows, doors):

External: Corrugated asbestos sheeting replaced slate in
1950/60s. Cementitious pebble dashed render over original
granite quoins and stone masonry with lime mortar. Only one
original window appears to remain, the remaining windows of
different styles.

Internal: An 1899 photograph (Fig 16) shows the internal
layout of the Miners’ Dry at that time. The walls were lime
washed, with a part open ceiling and ground floor boiler. The
building now has a full ceiling and first floor with open roof
joists. At ground floor the building has been re-plastered with
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a granolithic finish to provide a ‘wet room’ with showers,
possibly in the 1960s/70s.

Build date:

Original Miners’ Dry (Site 4) c1865-1877.

Modification date:

The 1899 Miners’ Dry archive photograph shows a central
boiler, baths and basins with hooks and wooden slatted
seats. Light was provided on the south side by windows on
two floors, through the open ceiling with stairway access to a
balcony with access to lockers etc. The boiler was removed
at an unknown date and the ceiling extended over the entire
floor plan to create two rooms above the former boiler/wash
room, accessed via a new staircase at the west end of the
building. The previously open ceiling joists were boxed in and
windows replaced with the present form. At ground floor, it
was re-plastered with a granolithic finish and showers
installed. All of these works date to the late 1960s/early
1970s. A central doorway opening was blocked.

Original function:

South Condurrow Mine/King Edward Mine Miners’ Dry.

Current function:

Unused former CSM ‘Wet room’ with showers.

Proposed function:

Rented workspace/arts/crafts etc.

Significant
features/contents:

Miners’ Dry (Site 4): Original walls and (boxed in) roof joists.
No visible significant original features at ground floor
(masked by later re-plastering etc). It is possible that the
original drains survive below ground floor level, and probably
the pipes relating to the original boiler.

Original fixtures and
fittings:

Most window openings appear to be original dimensions,
windows mostly of later date but the window and frame at
the south west corner of Miners’ Dry may be original (small
paned). Original fixtures and fittings appear to have been
removed.

Machinery:

Not applicable.

Summary description:

Count House Complex is Listed Grade II* and now on EH
Buildings at Risk Register (2012). The Count House was built
first, closely followed by the remainder of the buildings in a
single connected complex to serve the needs of South
Condurrow Mine (1865-1896). This building provided
changing facilities following underground mine student
training from 1897 - 1923, and possibly later when
underground training moved to Great Condurrow Mine
(Beacon). An internal 1899 photograph of the Miners’ Dry
and description is given in Figure 17 and (Brooks 2002, 12).
Externally, it appears the original slate roof was replaced in
the 1950s, as well as re-rendering the external walls with
cementitious pebble dash. Internally substantial changes
have occurred to both floors, although the exterior walls and
openings appear to have been untouched (apart from the
partial blocking of a doorway to form a window).

Completeness and
condition:

This is a rare example of a 19™ century Cornish mine
complex housing the Count House Office, the Smithy, the
Miners’ Dry and Carpenters’ Shop. However, this building has
been heavily modified, obscuring or destroying original
details/features.

Significance/conservation

The historic group value of this complex of buildings is highly
significant (as these are often separate buildings). However,
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strategy:

individually, given the extent of the 1960s repairs,
modifications externally and internally that affect site
character for each building is less significant. Replacement of
the existing roof with slate, removal of the exterior pebble
dash and repointing with lime mortar would go a long way to
restoring the original external character of this complex. The
issue of window replacement will need to be debated with
conservation professionals (refer to Record Sheet R1).
Internally, removal of the later granolithic plastered walls is
not necessarily recommended - adaptive re-use of its
existing form may be possible (after the washing facilities are
removed), and have less impact.

EH at Risk Register 2012:

Miners’ Dry (Site 4)

Additional requirements
for proposed work/any
other factors affecting
reuse/repair etc:

Given the masking of the external walls by a later
cementitious pebble dash, a structural assessment of the
building after removal may be necessary, to assess if there
are structural remediation works that may impact the
building (including removal of wall pipes etc). The insertion
of a first floor in the Miners’ Dry has substantially reduced
natural light levels in that space, and any decision on
insertion of one or more windows in the north side of the
Miners’ Dry to increase natural light levels should reflect the
conservation philosophy and be informed by a natural light
assessment. Internal photographic survey should be
undertaken before proposed works. The use of lime wash as
an exterior finish should be considered and maintenance
implications discussed. Internal photographic survey before
proposed works should be undertaken. An impact
assessment of any proposed ground floor works should be
undertaken in order to preserve original pipe work
(above/below ground) relating to its original function.

6.2.2 Site impacts

Refer to Figures 6 and 7 for the proposed scheme (plans and elevations respectively) affecting the

Counthouse Complex.

Significant impacts

e Replacement of all existing sheet roofing with original style scantle slate

e Removal of pebble dash from all south elevations of Counthouse Complex, rake out and repoint

with lime mortar and a white paint

e Where appropriate; replacement of recent ‘modern’ windows with a more appropriate style

following the approved conservation philosophy

e Some chimneys to be reinstated to promote a period roof line character

e Installation of external concrete ramps for inclusive access

Refer to Figures 2, 3 and 4 for each site location. Site information for each building is given in Table

1 and the relevant detail record sheet.

Site 1 Mess Room (Unit 1.1)

External:

e Replacement of all existing sheet roofing with original style scantle slate

29




Counthouse and Carpenters’ Shop Complexes IA April 2013

Frrrpran Sapres
hgmpeir e P e
Iy v Vkury

O G
for erancrmi

o Farrration

CORNWALL

Devalopmant Company  Cosmall

Figure 5 Proposed site plan (PBWC Ltd)

30

ol

ol ket R e gl

AMEHDUEYER
— ——
P
FP

Fail idwn 78 Fot 13
A |Fard et pdded 15 MR 13

IFﬂ-’I‘H’I’N-Bﬂ!MUR\'-'ﬂ’\'H’I’EH-I‘:ﬂLE
&rchisecin Limiisd

THE 013 L Lo
'ru-.n—.-'l' R T
i e ey Sl
e gl ek

King Edward Mine

Site Plan _

HBS(PR-Site)}-010 A

1: 200 A1 s
140008 A3 Feb 13

= ™™ ™




Counthouse and Carpenters’ Shop Complexes IA April 2013

31



Counthouse and Carpenters’ Shop Complexes IA April 2013

Counthouse Firgt Floor Plan

. e
s e

R

i s e
e —— —r-!-ﬂ-—|

Counthouss Ground Fleor Plan

g " LES =
i

SCALE N METHES

-h_:_n-—n: e % CORNWALL  §

Dereniopment Company DR

Figure 6 Proposed Counthouse Complex annotated plan showing known site impacts (PBWC Ltd)

S|
=S F

;’l

Ty s

B ——

AREAS AND NOTES

Linit 1.1 - 51,1 sgm = {6)

Unt 1.2-1798qgm -2

Uit 1.3 - 244 sgm - 4)

Unit 1.5 - 121 6sgm - ([12)

Uit 1.8 - 8.4 sgm - (B)

Lt 1.7 - 804 gqm - (6)

Units 1,1, 1.2 and 1,3 share kilchenatie, acoessible wo

Linit 1.5 haas upper leval withoul |8t aocesa which would need 1o be confemed in the access
!L’!ﬂrrlﬂ'll

Ul 1.5 haars: opbon or addilional space &l irsl oor vl
LUinis 1.5 1'.|‘n|nl:rulutl.|n5|j'|:rhgithur will use adjacent wos in addiion 1o i
accssible wo i requined. Mo WY sooass Hl-l.l:lpﬂh‘l‘ﬂ

32

R i el gl o
P e e i

e ey e e A S O e
O I THE (TR TOE B

mnm
! OER TR et R

A ety B AL el AR B AT L
i D el

e mssmr—rresi— s —mrrmrocoroe xroas

- bralarn sy of menling mab ke oo kg
ralan

- brdammdy b papmrie] shloy s
maEag

Prriadior ety oF 44 il 1 des
dima iy iy

Prrjadvin Palem owe sokoeg nosly

i Baee 28 Feb 13 Ly
e

A Fremis ponucenoes sioed e
dele mivias 1] W 15

D witiee phaciss i senrees =3
L T L | e 1
T e T R
r oz onsbin phomer poe, g
1 o pyuim picvegm
i B Al |

H"I'Hfﬂ HMH‘I' 'l""hllﬂ CoLE
Archibacis Lim
ar it h.H‘i‘L'L".'Eh s
mgberin it fmdi Fas A P
1

-
King Ecward Ming

Cornwall Council
Cornmall Development Company

i
Proposed
Counthvouss Floar Plans

JEBPR-Cop-010 B

::1”*:.; Feb 13
B T e

— | PP PC




Counthouse and Carpenters’ Shop Complexes IA April 2013

33



Counthouse and Carpenters’ Shop Complexes IA April 2013

B L AEcpanal i ey Exining sircios’ Sainin pacciedanh o Caprpewily
craTddp R (R HE e AT (T L ik S [ & MR, TRpn
Pl TG i painig mre L s pademn ko averpaind il e el @l Ll A
Thin sxciica reirgn piet (o) Wi, Besckj
- Hap-ryo? with weerla alale
'm | FophaTash i Ing (A1 559 TRwak
|| = REwni B S ol
i. I.‘ k e ) o v ki, smietn pHVL: wilh Gl aes
j | Py e (JLBS. e e ] |
d Lorwior Crosn -Dilsas G '-l'-l.':!r.-r\.llcl
L Sassi ivmiraisd aa appropRass’
T | — -
% el 5 Py forresd in reeodh ssn Soend
- — =m Fw el K i e Gy @
o - [ w1 W e cialed
- . L = ra Farcimi o deted
& o -
‘ - e - —
e i P - |
E ' E‘E ’ E il M il SR “~ @ |RT =g 5
- ; | : tﬂ - =4 =4 .
am ! == - L 1 = — et
b S
- — & s : I Ll v
- 4
AT 185 B0 | | l |
A Harrg: Faisa
Yo Rt @il e Rsfliahy Sl CRrOpR Renain g, sk R R e s e,
rbe boarses BEEng daar fmiar doorn [ ginand rood in e of SELTANY. L a7 el in
A R poach, Foam aicks [T ] SORTLGEAME Ak e FiA [T Srrda
sparing fot rersped gy T boarded doe daar
pocman re-rood inodeie R
Furd = sora by biry
fI‘--rI.Hl‘ﬂEPﬂ'I batt S0UTH EAST ELEVATION
SR Sra B8 SPUON S wndtwh 08 Frage bk (Rl WOE| H-ll'-erl\.-llu et e B itk Haw puriad i Srebe nash werdowa, ik aneg
b [Pl " Erl | mﬁwn.mmm.-h!rm1 2 10 mmrﬂw 25 wrad Bk cor Lﬂrqmﬂlllwﬂ:ll
Far. cilla il Fgety (ulis o ey | Bl (e Do ey ] l.-.-n-'\-m-rmeﬂ-'\-.n:-c-ﬁ Fiedn® 4y [ K Wree wibire

rraer et brich

il i, B ranchor v [vickc

S Prapgraph (Counsy Tory Svpeks)

Ha=raha vor!
Friraiug
[
" it C 1)
|I:||'|I'.l§l
Sl e 1 ECaR. Sl (Coarsay Torsy Brnoss Sl P R B (T ey Towry BmadiE
- L} !
L L]
‘|
- 4
[
| = 1 o
. @ O O O ! '~
7 ™ = e
i | . - LY Eeomod ¥
[
- | | X8
™ . - bl =
— 1]
Hale LT 1
WaAAE L] Busi Bt
& 1 ialal| ul gl
Ha e 0 Dol Ban Ra#tan ot Ng=aw rzclig s wik lager Tolsd Carmrally retan and recsr wirdoss Caranaly reisic el sspair wirdows | doon a his seclion Prmin we
W Con iy abawiing io v iy I"'-‘.-IIJ Ipe i Fid a0l a
SRR R O T £ G Wil 1 insin B3 feing HORTH WEET ELEVATION
e At ol s
|F|r-\.'..ug.5| i
rig - Flainsin s
A chirmray
X ., Pl G
-,
¥ — T
o ]
- % e S ' =
= Tr1 -
=
—_—
——
RO P | | AL {58000
s Ay, Hew painisd nber saak window as 5T Cipsring ko P S oL
o P bvwrorcir e MORTH EAST ELEVATION T e i SOUTH WEST ELEVATION
as mlervalic= Pl WO
rwn-:lh i rerom
r.-u—-n-—--u '

rr-‘rr-.-'m

smr

e 5 CORNWALL &

Drv@logman Compaing

i "\-I LS
[

Figure 7 Proposed Counthouse Complex annotated elevations showing known site impacts (PBWC Ltd)

34

2
L]
!
;3
1
d
[ ]

]
L LT P b L BT LD
i o ¥,

AMERGEERTS
—
-

Firit gty 98 Fdo 10
Fuatruw densd somesi 16 b 1

B | Foxd wnt, mard iich cpvar
U 1.5 aldfind 2 A5 12

C | Wl b aciciaa 8 Ape 13

SCALE N EETRES

POYMTOR: BRACBURY -WYNTER COLE
.'lrrl'lllitli Lirmilad

D "':""Eilt-u

ol
L]

Corrwall Councdl
Cornwall Development Company

A

Proposed
GuunﬂWnEmm
J1E8PR-Co)-0r1 [
r:?'m-:ﬁ-m e

N il oo™



Counthouse and Carpenters’ Shop Complexes IA April 2013

35



Counthouse and Carpenters’ Shop Complexes IA April 2013

Removal of pebble dash from the south elevations of this annex building and repoint, repaint
Addition of a new painted timber boarded door and new period sash windows (south elevation)
New cills to be formed in lime render over existing brick

Refurbishment of existing (external) WC

Internal:

New doorway opening to be formed in north east corner to Unit 1.1 (Fig 6)
Modern low cupboard and storage heaters to be removed

Due to floor joist damage - replacement of floor joists and flooring to match existing
specifications

Internal re-plastering only as necessary following alterations, following existing specification

Internal re-wiring generally within face fixed steel conduit to limit physical impact

Note:

Current specifications and impacts resulting in treatment of the mine shaft (sited under this annex),
are not known.

Site 2 Counthouse Office (Units 1.1 to 1.3)

External:

Replacement of all existing sheet roofing with scantle slate (replace joists as necessary)
Removal of pebble dash from the south elevation of this building and repoint, repaint
Existing front boarded door and porch to be repaired

New period sash windows to be installed to ground floor (internal shutters retained), and lime
render first floor recessed windows to south elevation

Windows to north elevation to be repaired
New cills to be formed in lime render over existing brick
New fascia boards to be installed with period style guttering

Concrete ramp to be installed with new side opening in front porch

Internal:

New internal shutters to be installed to the south elevation windows (Units 1.2 and 1.3)

Asbestos sheeting to be removed from front room walls and re-plastered where necessary
(retaining original architraves and dado rails).

Hidden Unit 1.3 fireplace (east side) to be investigated and revealed to retain as significant
feature

Existing toilets to be removed and replaced with new equivalents and new kitchen.
Excavation to provide new WC and kitchen drains (drain runs not known)
Replacement of all late 20*" century ceilings with lath and plaster equivalents

Floor joists and flooring to be replaced to match existing specifications if appropriate

Internal re-wiring generally within face fixed steel conduit to limit physical impact

Site 3 Smithy (Unit 1.5)

External:

Replacement of all existing sheet roofing (replace joists as necessary) with scantle slate and
reinstate roof vents to both apexes

Removal of pebble dash from the south elevation of this building and repoint, repaint
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Existing front sliding timber doors to be repaired

New period windows to ground floor to be installed (vertical timber glazing bars with lapped
glazing) to south elevation

Windows to north elevation to be repaired

New smithy chimney to be rebuilt with specifications from archive research (north elevation)
New cills to be formed in lime render over existing brick

New facia boards to be installed with period style guttering

Concrete ramp to be installed, with side entrance to porch and sliding timber doors reinstated

Cycle hoops to be added to lean-to shelter on east side (canopy to be retained and refurbished)

Internal:

New internal shutters to be installed to the south elevation windows (Unit 1.5)

Walls re-plastered where necessary (retaining original timber features where possible), to ground
floor and first floor.

New toilets and new kitchen to east side of ground floor to be constructed
Excavation to provide new WC and kitchen drains
South ground floor area to be laid with 70mm timber floor overlaying existing

Internal re-wiring to ground floor and first floor

Site 4 Miners’ Dry (Units 1.6 and 1.7)

External:

Replacement of all existing sheet roofing (replace joists as necessary) with scantle slate
Removal of pebble dash from the south elevation of this building and repoint, repaint
Front porch retained, but existing roof replaced with glazing

New period windows to be installed (based on template of existing window at south west corner)
to both south elevations

North elevation windows to be repaired
North side rooflights to be replaced with modern equivalents
New cills to be formed in lime render over existing brick

New facia boards installed and period style guttering

Internal:

New internal shutters to be installed to the south elevation windows

Internal partition removed from the ground floor

Retain existing granolithic wall finish, making good as necessary

New toilets constructed to former Lamp Room north west corner of ground floor
Excavation to provide new WC drains

Internal re-wiring to ground and first floor within surface mounted conduit

In Unit 1.7 remove modern partitions and raise flat ceiling to increase headroom

Existing doorway access to new WC’s/Showers blocked up

Site 5 Former Carpenters’ Shop (Site/office toilets)

External:

Existing corrugated sheet roofing to be repaired as necessary
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e Pebble dash exterior finish to be overpainted on the south elevation of this building

e West side doorway to be blocked up and new door installed with new concrete access ramp from
west side

e Windows to north elevation to be repaired
e New facia boards to be installed with period style guttering
Internal:

e Existing WC internal partitions to be removed and replaced with a new design of toilets, showers
and basins

e Retain existing tiled finish where possible, new tiling to match elsewhere

e Existing doorway access to be blocked from Miners’ Dry (Unit 1.6) and used for disabled toilet
and basin

e New Boiler/plant facilities installed in general ancillary eastern ground floor room
e Excavation to provide new WC drains

e Internal re-wiring to ground floor within surface mounted conduit

Note:

Site 6 (Store) and Site 7 (Outhouse/Store) is unlikely to be impacted by this project (see Figure 4
for site location). Note

To summarise, the main tenets of the conservation philosophy has been followed in order to
minimise impact, retain the site’s character, allow reversibility, and new build has been mainly
accommodated within the existing buildings. The specification and design for the replacement of old
and un-repairable external and internal fixtures and fittings (including windows) has followed the
philosophy of replicating a significant period in time (early decades of 20™ century) for KEM, and for
which archive information is available.

The main visual impact of the scheme relates to the Counthouse Complex, where the cementitious
based external render is to be carefully removed, the joints raked out and repointed. In addition, the
corrugated sheet roof is to be removed and replaced by original scantle slate (see front cover
image). In addition, two chimneys that were present during the early decades of the 20" century
are also to be replicated, in order to present a period roofscape.

The overall impact of these proposed works on the site can be defined as ‘Moderate positive’'. The
scheme will restore the buildings as far as possible respecting their original function, but their use
will be altered. It should be noted that as a result of these proposed works, the Counthouse
Complex will be able to be removed from the EH Buildings at Risk Register 2012.

6.2.3 Impact mitigation recommendations

Reduction of impact measures and residual impact mitigation has been described in Section 5.2.1.
Site impacts; visually, physically and to the overall site’s character have been mitigated as part of a
consultancy process by the project’s conservation accredited architect (Paul Perry, PBWC Ltd) with
KEM Ltd (primarily Tony Brooks), EH (Francis Kelly), the area Conservation Officer (Andy Richards),
and HE Projects (CMP author, Colin Buck), whilst drawing up the design and producing the project
specifications.

The impact mitigation strategy for the project is fully described in Section 7. There are more
significant external and internal impacts to the Counthouse than the Carpenters’ Shop complex, but
this relates more to the present condition of the former (and capital works necessary to bring it to
an appropriate standard for adaptive reuse), compared to the latter.

It is certainly recommended that a necessary pre-requisite (and a planning condition) for statutory
and Listed Building Consent would be:

e An archive photographic survey before any works are started (exterior and interior)

e Annotation of a Level 3 survey of the buildings to include historic elements that may be impacted
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e Archaeological recording during works (particularly excavation impact sites)

e Production of an archaeological report detailing the results of the above three archaeological

recording interventions.

6.3 Carpenters’ Shop Complex

6.3.1 Detail record sheet
Site name: KING EDWARD MINE Sheet R5
Building Carpenters’ Shop Complex: Offices/Carpenters’ Shop/Machining

name/identifier:

Room (Sites 11-14)

Survey date:

2/8/2012

Designations:

Listed Building Grade II* (Ref. 1159182 - Carpenters’ Shop)

Location:

NGR: SW 66339 38917 West of core KEM site. Block Plan Fig 4

Building at Risk:

No

Recorder:

C Buck

Plan Ref:

Proposed Survey Plan (PBWC Dwg. No. 3188 (PR Site) 010A
Annotated Proposed Survey Plan (PBWC Dwg. No. 3188 (PR Ca) 010/A
Annotated Proposed Survey Elevations (PBWC Dwg. No. 3188 (PR Ca)
011/B

Site map and
photograph:

Construction materials:

(walls, roof, floor, ceiling,
windows, doors):

External: The roof is constructed with scantle slate; the
original was replaced in c1990. It appears to be in a good
condition. The side and end walls are built of horizontal
boarded ship lap (with the exception of the Carpenters’ Shop
west wall which is constructed of brick), all of which is in dire
need of redecoration, and possibly some sections replaced.
The rainwater goods are plastic. The external joinery is in a
reasonable to poor condition — again, some needs replacing,
re-puttying and all re-decorating. Site 12, a new extension
was built of concrete block, with external cement render and
slate roof.

Internal: All the original internal partition walls are built of
vertical tongue and grooved timber. However the wall
between the Machine Shop and the Assay Office was built of
stone, lime plastered with an inbuilt chimney flue for the
Assay furnace. The ceiling was also boarded out with tongue
and grooved timber under the roof joists. In the Carpenters’
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Shop and the Machining Room (north east end), steel joists
were used for machinery support. The ends of these rooms
are either stone or brick (to support the drive shafts/belts etc
extending from one room to the other. The floor is also
constructed of timber floorboards. The windows, for the most
part appear to be original, except for those that have been
adapted to provide access to the later 1950s saw machine
building, or blocked doorways with a later window (see Fig
21). Internal modifications since construction can be seen
throughout the building, but are minimal. Site 12, was built
with a concrete floor and internal cement render.

Build date:

S. Condurrow Mine retained the lease on the Count House
and Assay Complexes from 1897 to 1903: The Carpenters
Shop/Mine Office/Assay House/Dark Room (Sites 11-13) all
built in c1903 (possibly slightly later for Sites 13/14) by
CSM. Site 12, the saw machine building was built in the
1950s.

Modification date:

Internally, the original complex form was ‘L’ shaped and
divided into three rooms (the Mine Office/Counthouse, the
Carpenters’ shop and the Machining room (all Site 11). At a
slightly later date Sites 13 (the Assay Office), and 14 (the
Stores/Dark Room), were built. In the 1950s building 12 was
built to site a new machine saw. It has two external doors,
with internal access via the Carpenters’ Shop and a doorway
formed from a former mine office window. In the office
section the position of small stoves can be seen (reference to
1904 photographs of KEM also show these chimneys), and
the position of former partitions.

Original functions:

Variously: KEM original Count House/Carpenters’
Shop/Machining Room/Assay House and Dark Room. After
taking on the lease for the Count House complex, the
building was still utilised as Offices, the Carpenters’ Shop and
Machining Room.

Current function:

Unused. Temporary storage for some Trevithick Society
items.

Proposed function:

Workspace of 3 self-contained units (Units 2.1 to 2.3).

Significant
features/contents:

These timber framed buildings (with the exception of Site
12), are highly significant in terms of their original external
timber ship lap design and internal tongue and grooved walls
and partitions - replicated in other parts of the mine from
1903 onwards. This complex also retains many original
windows and doorway openings.

Original fixtures and
fittings:

The Carpenters’ Shop (northern part of Site 11), retains
original storage shelving, and a shaft drive with flywheel
from the adjacent Machining Room (northern eastern part of
Site 11). The Machining Room also contains other original
shaft drives and fitments at a high level. The Assay building
(Site 13) contains the original assay furnace with internal
wall flue (except this has been capped at roof level). The
Office building contains evidence for siting of the stoves to
keep the occupants warm during the winter months.

Machinery:

There are numerous stored Trevithick Society Museum items
in the Carpenters’ Shop and Machining Room.
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Summary description:

The Carpenters’ Shop Complex is Listed Grade II*. This
range of four rooms under a single slate roof was built to
serve the needs of CSM soon after it took over this eastern
part of South Condurrow Mine (as at that time the mine
retained its lease on the Count House and Assay buildings).
The building retains many original internal features, and its
external timber frame character and slate roof is still
preserved. Internally, original shaft drives and flywheels are
extant in both the former Machining Room and the
Carpenters Shop. The Assay Office (Site 13) also retains the
original assay furnace, with evidence of original shelving and
the position where a timber cabinet stood. Given the complex
internal timber construction, modifications and signs of
original features can still be seen. Site 12, a saw machine
room, built with concrete block and rendered in the 1960’s,
has little character except for its slate roof.

Completeness and
condition:

This is another rare example of a relatively untouched early
20" century mine building. It not only demonstrates period
construction design, but also reflects a similar style around
the mine and unusually retains a number of original features.
However, this building has been in disuse for many years, its
exterior timber ship lap needs to be redecorated, with some
timbers and facias replaced, and guttering repainted or
renewed with period equivalents. Its slate roof appears to be
in a good condition. Internally, the walls and structures are
in a good condition, no doubt a result of ensuring during the
past century that the roof was well maintained.

Significance/conservation
strategy:

The historic group value of this early 20" century complex of
buildings is highly significant, as well as its contextual
relationship to other buildings of a similar date and style
across the site. Adaptive re-use of its existing form is
recommended as long as its significant internal features are
not compromised.

EH at Risk Register 2012:

Not applicable

Additional requirements
for proposed work/any
other factors affecting
reuse/repair etc:

Given the statutory designation of these buildings it is likely
to be condition of planning consent that an internal
photographic survey is commissioned before any proposed
works to enable adaptive re-use. Re-use of original internal
features (doors/architraves/skirting boards/fireplace etc), is
recommended where possible.
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6.3.2 Site impacts

Refer to Figures 8 and 9 for the proposed scheme (plans and elevations respectively) to the
Carpenters’ Shop complex.

Significant impacts

e Replacement of all existing roofing with original style scantle slate

e Existing windows to be retained and repaired (top light to be inward opening - bottom hung)
e Two parapet walls and a chimney to be rebuilt to promote a period roof line character

e On the north elevation, a blocked doorway to be re-opened and new door inserted

e On the west elevation, a blocked window to be re-opened and new window inserted to match
prevailing style

e uPVC rainwater goods to be replaced with original cast iron spec and existing refurbished
e Galvanised disabled access ramp to be built for Unit 2.3
e Internally: Two existing doorways to be infilled with secured doors (Unit 2.2.2)

e Internally: A new access ramp to be built into the north-west corner floor of Unit 2.1.2 and a
new access opening cut through the adjacent wall.

e Internally: Sound insulation added to all internal workspace areas.
Note:

Current specifications, method statements and impacts for replacement of foundation blocks
(mundic based constituents), for this building are not known.

Refer to Figures 2, 3 and 4 for each site location. Site information for each building is given in Table
1 and the relevant detail record sheet.

Sites 11& 12 Offices, Carpenters’ Shop, Machining Room and Sawmill (Units 2.1 and 2.2)
External:

e Replacement of all existing roofing with original style scantle slate

e Existing windows to be retained and repaired (top light to be inward opening - bottom hung)

e The external ship-lap weatherboarding to be cleaned, sanded, painted and repaired where
necessary

e A new parapet wall is to be rebuilt to promote a period roof line character
e On the north elevation, the blocked doorway is to be re-opened and a new door inserted

e At the west end of the north elevation, a new door to the existing opening is to be raised above a
slight concrete ramp

e On the west elevation, a blocked window is to be re-opened and new window inserted to match
the prevailing style

e uPVC rainwater goods to be replaced with an original cast iron spec and refurbish existing
Internal:

e Two existing doorways are to be infilled with secured doors (Units 2.1.1, 2.1.2 and 2.2.2 - See
Figure 8) to form Unit 2.2

e A new access ramp is to be formed into the north-west corner floor of Unit 2.1.2 floor and a new
access opening created through the adjacent wall

e The floor level is to be raised by approximately 150mm to Unit 2.1.1 (retaining existing floor
below)

e Sound insulation is to be added to all internal partition workspace areas
e There may be possible bat impact mitigation works to the roof void over Unit 2.1.2
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e A new toilet and washing facilities is to be built at the south end of Unit 2.1.2 within the existing
partitioned space

e Existing internal finishes to be retained, sound insulation material to be incorporated into void
between studs and other improvements to sound proofing to be made within structure (hidden -
eg within roof and floor voids).

e Internal re-wiring to be within face fixed conduit

Sites 13 & 14 Assay Office and Store (Unit 2.3)

External:

e Replacement of all existing roofing with scantle slate

e The existing south side windows to the store are to be repaired (Site 14 - Unit 2.3.2)

e A new galvanised disabled access ramp is to be built for Unit 2.3 (south side) and new timber
boarded door

e A window on the south side of the Assay Office is to be renewed to match the existing style

e The external ship-lap weatherboarding to be cleaned, sanded, painted and repaired where
necessary

e A new parapet wall is to be rebuilt to promote a period roof line character

e UuPVC rainwater goods to be replaced with an original cast iron spec and refurbish existing

Internal:

e Sound insulation not required as there is an existing solid masonry wall between Units 2.2 and
2.3

e Internal re-wiring to be within face fixed conduit

Note:

Site 14 (former KEM Dark Room), is to be converted to the new Boiler/plant room. It is also planned
to contain these unit’s electrical meters, re-cycling and refuse storage. The internal partition is to be
retained. There will be minimal impacts.

To summarise, the main tenets of the conservation philosophy has been followed in order to
minimise impact, retain the site’s character, allow reversibility, and new build has been mainly
accommodated within the existing buildings. The retention and repair of old windows has followed
the general conservation philosophy of keeping original features as much as possible, especially
where they were created during a significant formative period in time (early decades of 20" century)
for KEM.

The main visual impact of the scheme for the Carpenters’ Shop Complex is likely to be internally
where the Camborne School of Mine’s original mine buildings were constructed with various specific
functions. It is proposed that these buildings are formed into three separate units, two of them
(Units 2.2 and 2.3), using toilets at the east end of the Counthouse Complex. Soundproofing and
other building regulations may result in the original wall surfaces being lined, and the creation of
Unit 2.1 (linking the former CSM Counthouse and Carpenters’ Shop), with a new doorway and
disabled access ramp are other significant impacts. But externally, the construction of a new
chimney and parapet wall (present during the early decades of the 20" century are to be
replicated), in order to present a period roofscape.

The overall impact of these proposed works on the site can be defined as ‘Moderate positive’'. The
scheme will restore the buildings as far as possible respecting their original function, but their use
will be altered. It should be noted that as a result of these proposed works, the Carpenters’ Shop
Complex will be able to be removed from the EH Buildings at Risk Register 2012.

6.3.3 Impact mitigation recommendations

Refer to Section 6.2.3 - the impact mitigation recommendations equally refer to this building
complex.
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6.4 Residual impacts

Short-term residual impacts relate to the visual component - this will be mainly
focussed on the Counthouse Complex, where the existing pebble dash exterior coating
will be removed, the building re-slated, and early 20" century windows installed.
Longer term residual impacts to both buildings relate to perceptive changes of
functional use, and physical impacts to the internal layouts and specifications to each
building component.

However, given the nationally important statutory designation of these buildings, the
adaptive reuse scheme is also to a large extent repairing and conserving these two
historically important buildings. There is the positive residual impact that the buildings
will be conserved for at least another generation. Structurally, they will both benefit
from use and heating; at present they are used only for storage but dampness has
caused damage to the Counthouse walls through neglect for some time.

6.5 Assessment of impact on historic building character

As described in the Significance section of this report (Section 3.2), KEM has
International, National and Local significance attributes, as well as its statutory
designations of Listed Building Grade II*. Therefore, the importance of production of a
Conservation Management Plan (Buck 2013), that sets out clear principles and policies
of significance and character, which underlies a clear Conservation Philosophy; to
inform and guide project development, as well as the production of detailed
specifications, cannot be understated.

The Conservation Philosophy’s main tenets of utilising archive information to guide
specifications for repair, alteration and rebuild have been followed. Generic
conservation principles following principles of reversibility, minimising impacts upon
original features - and adapting the design to each site’s constraints have also been
followed. In addition, the scheme is proposed to include the reversing of mid to late
20" century building work undertaken on the Counthouse that included pebble dashing
the exterior, and re-roofing the complex with corrugated asbestos sheeting. Again, this
is positive — the site’s character should be enhanced rather than diminished by the
sustainable regeneration project. Where new build has had to be accommodated, their
design has been based on replicating an industrial feel and character, in line with the
function of the site.

The overall impact of these proposed works on the site can be defined as ‘Moderate
positive’. The scheme will restore the buildings as far as possible respecting their
original function, but their use will be altered. It should be noted that as a result of
these proposed works, both the Counthouse and Carpenters’ Shop Complexes will be
able to be removed from the EH Buildings at Risk Register 2012.

7 Impact mitigation strategy:

The impact mitigation strategy methodology is described below in three main stages:
The pre-works consultancy, site supervision during works and the archaeological
recording record (during and after works). This mechanism demonstrates the steps that
have been taken to avoid or minimise adverse impacts, confirms that the proposed
works have been designed in close liaison with the relevant statutory (and non-
statutory) historic environment and conservation officers. This is based on a clear
understanding of the significance of the site using appropriate methods and techniques
for site monitoring and recording.

7.1 Pre-works consultancy

Cornwall Council Culture Team tendered and commissioned a Design Team to facilitate
production of plans and specifications for the adaptive reuse of both the Counthouse
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and Carpenters’ Shop Complexes. Pre-works consultancy throughout this formative
design period has occurred, leading to general compromise and agreement.

Detailed liaison with the project’s conservation accredited architect (Paul Perry, PBWC
Ltd) and appropriate statutory officers (EH, Conservation Officers and County
Planners), non statutory advisers (Historic Environment Projects and KEM Ltd), with
additional input from a public open consultation event (20" March) throughout the
design and specification process, have ensured that the impacts have been reduced as
much as possible, and the scheme accords with the general conservation philosophy
produced in the Conservation Management Plan.

However, it should be noted that not all the impacts to the site are known at the
present time, and cannot therefore be commented upon in detail nor mitigation
discussed. For example, a mine shaft has been located beneath the Counthouse west
wall (Mess Building - Sitel), the foundation blocks under the Carpenters’ Shop have
been tested and contain elements of ‘mundic’, and excavation trenches (and therefore
impacts) for drains both inside and outside the buildings are not finalised. In addition,
detailed specifications for internal floor, wall and ceiling works have also not been
finalised. This report should therefore be viewed as a generic impact assessment for the
project.

7.2 Site supervision

A Conservation Accredited architect will also be appointed for the implementation
phase. This will be undertaken with other statutory officers (for example English
Heritage and the area Conservation Officer Andrew Richards).

The Conservation Management Plan should be a useful resource to inform and guide
policy and conservation/repair work decisions that will need to be made during ongoing
site works.

7.3 Programmes of archaeological recording

Listed Building Consent from Cornwall Council will be necessary for these works. This
report has been commissioned by the Cornwall Council Culture Team, as its production
is a pre-requisite for planning consent.

This report makes the following archaeological impact mitigation recommendations:

¢ An archive (Black and White) photographic survey of all buildings and rooms should
be undertaken that will be impacted by the scheme (internally and externally),
before any works are started.

¢ Annotation of a Level 3 survey of the buildings to include historic elements that may
be impacted. A survey undertaken by PBWC (Ltd) to work up the site drawings
appears to be of sufficient detail, but additional annotations relating to historic and
period architectural features will be necessary.

e Archaeological recording during works (particularly excavation impact sites for
example below ground services and drain routes).

e Production of an archaeological report detailing the results of the above three
archaeological recording interventions. The archaeological recording report will
include detailed ‘before and after’ site photographs as well as a descriptive text of
the general works.

It is likely that a detailed brief will be supplied for the nature and extent of the
archaeological recording.
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